100039-1

Case No. 80233-0-I

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON als
8/16/2021ivision I
BY ERINStrateNNONnington
CLERK 021 4:48 PM

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION ONE, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ANTONIO HILL, individually, ISAIAH IFANSE, individually, and ERON KROSS, individually

Appellants,

v.

WASHINGTON INTERSCHOLASTIC ACTIVITIES ASSOCIATION, a Washington non-profit Corporation, inclusive;

Respondent.

### APPELLANT'S REVISED PETITION FOR REVIEW

# **SMYTHE & JONES, PLLC**

Marianne K. Jones, WSBA # 21034 400 112<sup>th</sup> Ave., Suite #200 Bellevue, WA 98004 425-436-5777

Attorney for Appellants

Antonio Hill and Isaiah Ifanse

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

	Page
TABI	LE OF CONTENTSi
TABI	LE OF AUTHORITIES/APPENDIXiii
1.0	INTRODUCTION1
2.0	PETITIONER'S IDENTITY. 1
3.0	CITATION TO APPELLATE DECISION TO BE REVIEWED
4.0	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW2
5.0	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
6.0	ARGUMENT8
	A. STANDARD OF REVIEW
	1. There Was Production of Evidence That The Transfer List of 35 of 42 Created By The Prosecutors Was Targeting Persons of Color Including Hill and Ifanse
	2. There Was Production of Evidence That The Interviews Were Conducted In A Discriminatory Manner Towards Hill And Ifanse
7.0	CONCLUSION20
	PROOF OF SERVICE21

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Statutes and	Codes
	CR 56(C)8
Case Law	RCW 28A.600.200(1)10
	Benjamin v. Washington State Bar Ass'n 138 Wn.2d 506, 515, 980 P.2d 742 (1999)8
	Clements v. Travelers Indem. Co 121 Wn.2d 243, 249, 850 P.2d 1298 (1993)8
	Ellis v. City of Seattle 142 Wn.2d 450, 458, 13 P.3d 1065 (2000),
	Floeting v. Grp. Health Coop., 200 Wn. App. 758, 773-74, 403 P.3d 559 (2017)11-12
	Fraternal Order of Eagles, Tenino Aerie No. 564 v. Grand Aerie of Fraternal Order of Eagles, 148 Wn.2d 224, 246, 59 P.3d 655 (2002)9
	Riehl v. Foodmaker, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 138, 149, 94 P.3d 930 (2004), abrogated on other grounds by Mikkelsen v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Kittitas County, 189 Wn.2d 516, 404 P.3d 464 (2017))
	Scrivener v. Clark Coll., 181 Wn.2d 439, 445, 334 P.3d 541 (2014)
	W.H. v. Olympia Sch. Dist., 195 Wn.2d 779, 784, 465 P.3d 322 (2020) (quoting RCW 49.60.020)9

# APPENDIX

Decision 5/10/21

Order Denying Motion to Publish and Motion for Reconsideration 6/28/21

### 1.0 INTRODUCTION

The Washington Law Against Discrimination was designed to eliminate discrimination in the state of Washington. However, the trial court would not apply that law to the Washington State Interscholastic Activities Association ("WIAA") because it concluded there is no law in Washington as to whether the WIAA, which controls interscholastic activities for over 800 public and private schools in the state of Washington can discriminate in their actions. The appellate court did not reach that decision because it determined the investigators were not targeting persons of color when they created a list of those to focus an investigation on which were 83% persons of color. The subtleties of discrimination need to be addressed by this court so that a jury and not an appellate court decides whether certain actions were acts of discrimination. In addition, it is a significant question of law under the Washington Law Against Discrimination to determine whether the WIAA is a place of public accommodation, and/or what place of public accommodation means when the legislature uses the Washington Law Against Discrimination as a prohibition in other statutes.

#### 2.0 PETITIONERS' IDENTITY

Antonio Hill ("Hill"), Isaiah Ifanse ("Ifanse"), and Eron Kross ("Kross") filed suit against both the WIAA and the Bellevue School District ("BSD") for Negligence; Violation of the Washington law against Discrimination and

Discrimination in Violation of Civil Rights. CP 1240-1254. The discrimination claims are only related to Hill and Ifanse and only they are in a protected class. Kross and the BSD are not parties to this appeal.

# 3.0 CITATION TO APPELLATE DECISION TO BE REVIEWED

Hill and Ifanse request the Washington Supreme Court review the Washington State Court of Appeals Non-Published decision in *Antonio Hill et. al. v. The Washington Interscholastic Activities Association et. al.* No. 80233-0-1, Washington Court of Appeals, Division One, (May 10, 2021), herein the "Opinion." A copy of the Opinion is included in the Appendix. In addition, Hill and Ifanse request that the Washington Supreme Court Review the Washington State Court of Appeals decision Denying Motions for Reconsideration and to Publish filed June 28, 2021.

### 4.0 ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

**Issue One. (From the Trial Court)** Whether the Washington Law Against Discrimination Applies to the WIAA and if so, then how is the jury instructed as to a "place" of accommodation.

Issue Two. (From the Appellate Court) Whether the Court of Appeals can conclude on summary judgment differently than the trial court without reversing and remanding the decision as to whether there was sufficient evidence of discrimination to allow a jury to decide whether the treatment of Hill and Ifanse was discriminatory when Hill and Ifanse's position was that they were not transfer students and the

evidence in the record that the investigator's compilation of the list of transfer students was based upon race.

### 5.0 STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Hill, Ifanse, and Kross were each interviewed by former federal prosecutors (Bob Westinghouse and Carl Blackstone) as to whether they improperly transferred to Bellevue High School such that the WIAA recruiting rules would be violated. CP 580-582.

Kross, the white student, was a transfer student from Florida. CP 565-6; 582. Hill and Ifanse, both black, attended the local middle school that feeds into Bellevue High School and therefore were not transfer students under any reading of the WIAA rules. CP 177. During the interview, the prosecutors asked Hill, Ifanse, and their respective mothers who also attended the interviews, such questions as how they can afford to live in Bellevue, how they afford to buy groceries, and directed to Hill's mother, whether she cares about her children. CP 660-5. Hill's mother is a Captain in the United States Army and had listed guardians for her children including her mother, brother and two sisters because she had been deployed to Afghanistan and also was obtaining her masters by attending school in in Texas, while her children resided in Washington. CP 660-5.

Kross, the white student, who transferred to Bellevue was not suspect as were the black families as to how they could afford to live in Bellevue and Kross publicly spoke about his belief that racial targeting and insinuating black families could not afford to live in Bellevue was part of the investigation. CP 582-584.

Kross had stood up and spoke out during open comment to the Bellevue School Board about a Seattle Times article covering issues of racial bias about the WIAA investigation into the Bellevue Football program. CP 584-5.

In August 2015, the WIAA initiated an investigation into the Bellevue High School Football Program ("the investigation"). CP 181. BSD authorized the investigation but told the WIAA that the scope would be limited to five specific issues. CP 181-2. WIAA told BSD one of the benefits of "asking" for the investigation was that BSD could control the scope. CP 181.

The WIAA hired two former federal prosecutors ("the prosecutors/the investigators") to investigate. CP 186. Rather than limiting the scope to whether WIAA Rule violations had occurred in five specific areas, the WIAA authorized the prosecutors to "look under rocks, under rocks, under rocks." CP 217. In other words, the WIAA wanted the prosecutors to keep on digging, looking, and displacing the "rocks" until there were no more rocks. CP 217; 239. As BSD's John Harrison put it, the prosecutors were told by the WIAA to "leave no stone unturned." CP 217.

BSD had problems with the prosecutors and the WIAA from the beginning of the investigation. CP 181. Mr. Harrison and Mr. Lowell were leading up the coordination of the investigation and set certain ground rules with the WIAA. CP 182.

One significant item that the prosecutors wanted but could not get from BSD was a list of transfer students. CP 368-9; 374; 489; 606. Transfer students

under the WIAA rules are those students who transfer to one high school after already enrolling in and attending a different high school. CP 368-9; 374; 489; 606. When BSD would not provide the list of transfer students because BSD believed it violated FERPA, the prosecutors made up their own purported list of 42 'transfer' students which was nothing but a list of 35 black/mixed race athletes on the Bellevue High Football team comprised of students ranging from 2003 through 2015. CP 368-9; 374; 489; 606. Over one half of the students listed on the 35 of 42 list of non-white persons did not transfer to Bellevue High School. CP 368-9; 374; 489; 606. Rather, over one half of the students attended all four years at Bellevue High School without ever attending any other high school. CP 368-9; 374; 489; 606.

The WIAA initially provided a list of students who had gone through the WIAA eligibility hearings and been approved by the WIAA. CP 606. The prosecutors then created the rest of the list on their own using football rosters. CP 606. Of the individuals on this list for the investigation and possible interviews with the prosecutors, 35 out of 42 were black and/or minority mixed race. CP 368-9; 374; 489; 606. A simple mathematical calculation proves that in no way did the prosecutors select students based on the merit of the investigation (i.e. potentially recruited athletes). CP 368-9; 374; 489; 606. It is statistically impossible to come up with a list which contains 83.33% black and mixed race, non-white athletes without racial targeting. CP 374; 606. Eron Kross testified that the football team is not made up of a vast majority (83%) of people of color. CP

606. The allegation by Hill and Ifanse that they want the jury to decide is that the prosecutors' selection of who to target was done purely based on race as evidenced by the list of those being investigated being primarily persons of color. CP 368-9; 606. With nearly 100 football players in the program each year, statistically 3% of them being black or mixed race would be normal, but to only target the black/mixed race students on a list that would have had approximately 1.45 black transfer students per year over a 12-year period is targeting; CP 368-9; 374; 489; 606 and 1075.

The 35 of 42 list above was not created based on who was a transfer, the list included whoever was black or mixed black and a few others. CP 368-9; 374; 489; 606, 1075. The prosecutors had a racist mind-set and asked only the black and mixed-race black persons how they could afford to live in a place like Bellevue. CP 661 191. All the while the WIAA knew that the prosecutors were being accused of being racially biased because it was brought up in school board meetings. CP 237.

On December 4, 2015, Executive Director of Schools Bellevue School District, Mr. John Harrison, wrote a memo to the WIAA Executive Board detailing the following concerns:

- (1) tone and direction of the current investigation being conducted by Mr. Blackstone and Mr. Westinghouse;
- (2) manner in which the interviews were conducted;
- (3) Mr. Blackstone and Mr. Westinghouse disagreed with the district protecting student information by following a protocol to contact parents of students;

- (4) investigators were not satisfied with district responses to questions and insisted that there was no response;
- (5) the failure of the WIAA to produce a document refuting Blackstone and Westinghouse's contention that they had been encouraged to leave no stone unturned;
- (6) district finds itself being either accused or threatened based on whether the investigators deemed that they had received cooperation as defined by them;
- (7) concern that the investigation was not fair and unbiased as promised;
- (8) investigation had become based on the community gossip about BHS football program rather than conducting an unbiased investigation which focused on the facts; and
- (9) concern that the investigation had morphed into a trial. CP 215-8.

The prosecutors initiated the interviews by introducing themselves as "former federal prosecutors". CP 365. Their tones were aggressive, demanding, and would only take the answer they wanted to hear. CP 359; 364; 368; 593. The under-aged students were intimidated by the hostile nature but answered the questions as best they could, given the threat that failure to do so would hurt their reputation with their school and their football program's reputation. CP 595. This threat by BSD and the WIAA held true as the reputations of individuals who did not participate in the interviews were negatively tarnished. CP 706. Despite the explicit and implicit threats, the prosecutors asked/stated to Hill, Ifanse, Kross as follows:

- 1) Ifanse and Hill: "Bellevue is an expensive place to live"; CP 366; 532.
- 2) Hill understood that white people were not asked did you care for your son or how do you afford groceries. CP 370
- 3) The prosecutors never asked Ifanse about any other white students who moved to Bellevue; CP 370.
- 4) Ifanse: "How can your family afford training" when referring to conditioning and non-sport specific athletic training Ifanse was engaged in; CP 452-3.
- 5) Ifanse and Hill: How much do their parents pay for rent; CP 444.
- 6) Ifanse and Hill: How do their parents afford rent; CP 377; 444.

- 7) Ifanse and Hill: How much do their parents pay for food, how can they afford food, CP 366; 370; 442-6; 450.
- 8) Ifanse and Hill: Implying their parents shouldn't be able to afford to live in a place like Bellevue; CP 442-6.
- 9) Ifanse felt that being asked how they can afford groceries was disrespectful CP 443
- 10) Kross: prosecutors implied Kross was a smart man and implied that his college or future job opportunities would be affected if he did not correct his statement about the prosecutors. CP 593.

Both Hill and Ifanse left these interviews distraught. CP 592. They attempted to seek help through their school district through written complaints and were left with no solution, no rationale, and no apology. CP 378-9; 383-4; 389-91; 385-388.

#### 4.0 ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

Review of summary judgment is *de novo*. *Ellis v. City of Seattle*, 142 Wn.2d 450, 458, 13 P.3d 1065 (2000), *citing Benjamin v. Washington State Bar Ass'n*, 138 Wn.2d 506, 515, 980 P.2d 742 (1999). Summary judgment is proper only when there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Ellis*, at 458, *citing Clements v. Travelers Indem. Co.*, 121 Wn.2d 243, 249, 850 P.2d 1298 (1993); CR 56(c). All facts and reasonable inferences are viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *Id*.

# B. Issues On Review: WLAD Applying to The WIAA And Whether There Is Substantial Evidence Of Discrimination Under The Law.

The Washington Law Against Discrimination was designed to deter and eradicate discrimination in the state of Washington. *Fraternal Order of Eagles, Tenino Aerie No. 564 v. Grand Aerie of Fraternal Order of Eagles,* 148 Wn.2d 224, 246, 59 P.3d 655 (2002).

There is no law in Washington as to whether the WIAA, which controls interscholastic activities for over 800 public and private schools in the state of Washington can discriminate in their actions. The appellate court did not reach that decision because it determined that the facts of this case were not sufficient for a jury to determine that discrimination occurred. However, it is a significant question of law under the Washington Law Against Discrimination to determine whether the WIAA is a place of public accommodation, and/or what place of public accommodation means when the legislature uses the Washington Law Against Discrimination as a prohibition in other statutes. The trial court dismissed the case on summary judgment for that reason because at trial the trial court could not determine whether the WIAA was a place of accommodation and how to instruct the jury as to what that means under the WLAD.

The law in Washington is clear that the WLAD is construed liberally to accomplish the purpose of the WLAD to eradicate discrimination in Washington. *See W.H. v. Olympia Sch. Dist.*, 195 Wn.2d 779, 784, 465 P.3d 322 (2020) (quoting RCW 49.60.020).

The record shows that the Hill and Ifanse (and Kross), and many others in the community saw racial targeting, profiling, and interrogation of black persons by the WIAA prosecutors throughout the investigation. The court of appeals however felt that the evidence lacked proof that a list of persons to investigate being 83% persons of color was not proven by either the demographics of the football rosters throughout the years or simply by the demographics of the City of Bellevue which is the demographics of the school because the public-school attendance area is only the City of Bellevue. The court of appeals also determined that there was a basis for the structural questions that were asked by the WIAA investigators. Therefore, the court of appeals never was able to reach the primary issue from the trial court as to how to apply the Washington Law Against Discrimination to the WIAA, particularly as to the issue of place of public accommodation. That issue needs to be addressed in the state of Washington given the fact that the WLAD is referenced in the Revised Code of Washington as applying to many other circumstances, including the WIAA in RCW 28A.600.200(1) but the courts have no instructions as to whether the statutory language of "place of accommodation" must be decided by the jury.

Another reason that the decision should be reviewed is that discrimination based upon race is certainly a public interest issue. The courts are a significant part of eliminating discrimination in Washington which is the fundamental goal of the Washington Law Against Discrimination and the public will be served by a decision in this case further guiding the lower courts on use of the Washington

Law Against Discrimination and a proper application of determining places of accommodation and whether that includes the WIAA.

# 1. There Was Production of Evidence That The Transfer List of 35 of 42 Created By The Prosecutors Was Targeting Persons of Color Including Hill and Ifanse.

In this case, whether the prosecutors compiling a list of persons to investigate was racially targeting should not be disregarded by the court of appeals as not targeting persons of color. Rather, whether placing Hill and Ifanse on a list of transfers with 83% persons of color was targeting Hill and Ifanse based upon their race should be a question for the jury. Simply because the lower court imagined an anomaly of 83% persons of color being reflected on a football roster for multiple years, does not make such a list non-discriminatory. Discriminatory acts cannot be determined on summary judgment simply because there may be an alternate available excuse for someones actions that are not discriminatory but that alone does not eliminate the objective belief by persons of color that the actions were discrimination. It then should be a question for the jury.

The law in Washington must be clarified to allow for non-discriminatory reasons to exist but still the possibility that the actions were discrimination. The law was stated properly by the court but misapplied when it comes to determining objective discriminatory conduct. The opinion holds, "The liability inquiry focuses on whether actions led to discrimination, not whether the proprietor of a place of public accommodation intended to discriminate. *Floeting*, 192 Wn.2d at 853. "[T]he asserted discriminatory conduct must be objectively discriminatory. By this we mean

that it must be of a type, or to a degree, that a reasonable person who is a member of the plaintiff's protected class, under the same circumstances, would feel discriminated against." *Floeting*, 192 Wn.2d at 85817 (quoting *Floeting v. Grp. Health Coop.*, 200 Wn. App. 758, 773-74, 403 P.3d 559 (2017)).

Compiling a list of transfer students, including Hill and Ifanse on it when they were not transfer students, and the list of suspected recruited athletes was comprised of 83% persons of color is objectively discriminatory. Given a summary judgment standard of viewing the facts in the light most favorable to the defendant, the court of appeals should not have decided that creation of the list and Hill and Ifanse being on the list was not discriminatory. This is particularly so, when the trial court determined that there were issues of fact as to discrimination, but no law of discrimination to apply to the WIAA because it was not a place of public accommodation.

# 2. There Was Production of Evidence That The Interviews Were Conducted In A Discriminatory Manner Towards Hill And Ifanse.

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