FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/15/2021 12:34 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 100039-1

SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ANTONIO HILL and ISAIAH IFANSE,

Petitioners,

VS.

WASHINGTON INTERSCHOLASTIC ACTIVITIES ASSOCIATION, a Washington non-profit Corporation,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT WASHINGTON INTERSCHOLASTIC ACTIVITIES ASSOCIATION'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

CALFO EAKES LLP

Angelo J. Calfo, WSBA #27079 1301 Second Avenue, Suite 2800 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 407-2200 | Phone

Email: angeloc@calfoeakes.com

Attorneys for Respondent Washington Interscholastic Activities Association

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

V. ARGUMENT AND CITATION TO AUTHORITY

A. There Are No Grounds for Review Under RAP 13.4(b).

Under RAP 13.4(b), a petition for review will **only** be accepted by the Supreme Court:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b) (emphasis added).

Ifanse and Hill have not identified any conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision and a Supreme Court decision or another decision of the Court of Appeals. Nor does this case involve questions of constitutional law. Therefore, RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3) do not provide grounds for review. Nor is review

warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(4), because the petition does not involve "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court."

1. WIAA is governed by the WLAD.

Ifanse and Hill contend that there "is no law in Washington as to whether the WIAA, which controls interscholastic activities for over 800 public and private schools in the state of Washington can discriminate in their actions." Pet. at 9. Read generously, they may be contending that their petition therefore involves an issue of substantial public interest. But they entirely misstate the law. WIAA is subject to the WLAD just like any other entity in Washington and has never claimed otherwise. *See, e.g.*, CP 1896; WIAA's Response to Appellants' Opening Brief at 3. For instance, WIAA could not engage in discriminatory employment practices without violating the WLAD.

///

2. There is no substantial public interest involved in determining whether WIAA was acting as a place of public accommodation under the unique facts of this case.

Petitioners also argue that the Court should accept review to determine whether WIAA is a place of public accommodation, which is one of the required elements of a claim for discrimination in public accommodation under the WLAD. *See Floeting v. Grp. Health Coop.*, 192 Wn.2d 848, 853, 434 P.3d 39 (2019). Pet. at 1, 9, 10. Again, read generously, Petitioners may be contending that a "substantial public interest" is at issue. The Court, however, should decline this suggestion as a basis for accepting review.

At the outset, Petitioners' petition should be rejected, because they failed to raise this issue in their briefing to the Court of Appeals, and, in oral argument before the trial court, expressly denied that they were pursuing a claim for discrimination in a place of public accommodation. *See* RP 57-58 ("And so the context that I'm arguing clearly applies otherwise is the place of public accommodation. That is not relevant here.");

Buchsieb/Danard, Inc. v. Skagit Cty., 99 Wn.2d 577, 581, 663 P.2d 487 (1983) ("We continue to adhere to our rule that, except as to issues of manifest error affecting a constitutional right, issues not raised at the trial court or the Court of Appeals cannot be raised for the first time before the Supreme Court.").

Moreover, whether a defendant is a place of public accommodation is generally a question of fact. See Fell v. Spokane Transit Auth., 128 Wn. 2d 618, 639, 911 P.2d 1319 (1996). Whether an entity is a place of public accommodation also is a context-specific question, because an entity can be a place of public accommodation in one context but not another. See Kral v. King Cty., No. C10-1360-MAT, 2012 WL 726901, at *17–18 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 6, 2012) (holding that neither King County nor the Washington Association of Sheriffs and Chiefs of Police operated places of public accommodation "in relation to the specific claim at issue in this case," which was failure to provide accommodations to a deaf person for electronic home monitoring).

Here, the trial court held as a matter of law that WIAA was not a place of public accommodation in the context of Petitioners' claims and dismissed their WLAD claims on that basis. CP 970, RP 255. The Court of Appeals did not reach that issue, recognizing that Petitioners' claims would fail regardless, based on their inability to establish the third and fourth elements—i.e., that "(3) the defendant discriminated against the plaintiff when it did not treat the plaintiff in a manner comparable to the treatment it provides to persons outside that class," and "(4) the plaintiff's protected status was a substantial factor that caused the discrimination." See Floeting, 192 Wn.2d at 853; Hill, 2021 WL 1854332 at *8, n.21. In other words, the trial court and the Court of Appeals applied the WLAD to WIAA just as they would have to any other entity in Washington, and the courts' rulings are unique to the facts of this case — and not a matter of substantial public interest.¹

 $^{\rm 1}$ Petitioners also raised both RCW 28A.640.040 and RCW 28A.600.200 as the statutory bases for their claims. While the

3. There is no substantial public interest inherently involved in discrimination claims.

Ifanse and Hill also argue that this Court should accept review because discrimination based on race is a "public interest issue." Pet. at 10. But the mere fact that the case involves allegations of discrimination on the basis of race is not sufficient, alone, to justify review under RAP 13.4(b), or review would be warranted in any case involving alleged discrimination.

Court of Appeals did not reach this issue, the trial court held that these statutes did not create a cause of action against WIAA for alleged race discrimination, either individually or stitching them together in a patchwork way. Because the WLAD governs WIAA to the same extent as any other entity in Washington, the question of whether a discrimination cause of action for civil damages exists against WIAA under these other, rarely-litigated statutes is not an issue of substantial public interest. Further, to the extent more clarity regarding the interplay between these statutes, their applicability to non-school entities like WIAA, and the availability of a discrimination cause of action under them is desirable, it would be more appropriate for the legislature to weigh in and clarify its intentions. See RAP 13.4(b)(4) (providing that the Supreme Court will accept review only if "the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court") (emphasis added); Bain v. Metro. Mortg. Grp., Inc., 175 Wn.2d 83, 109, 285 P.3d 34 (2012) ("The legislature, not this court, is in the best position to assess policy considerations.").

Instead, this Court has indicated that "[a] decision that has the potential to affect a number of proceedings in the lower courts may warrant review as an issue of substantial public interest if review will avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue." In re Flippo, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413, 413-14 (2016). That is not the case here. The Court of Appeals decided this case based on well-established law: to avoid summary judgment, Ifanse and Hill were required to produce evidence from which a reasonable jury could find both that WIAA did not treat them "in a manner comparable to the treatment it provides to persons outside that class," and that their "protected trait was a substantial factor motivating [WIAA's]" conduct. Hill, 2021 WL 1854332 at *6 (citing Floeting, 192 Wn.2d at 853-54, and *Scrivener v. Clark Coll.*, 181 Wn.2d 439, 445, 334 P.3d 541 (2014)). They failed to meet this burden. As discussed in more detail below, the Court's decision was correct.

///

B. The Superior Court and Court of Appeals Correctly Dismissed Ifanse's and Hill's Discrimination Claims.

As the Court of Appeals correctly held, Petitioners failed to provide evidence of disparate treatment based on race. This is essential to their discrimination claims, whether based on the WLAD or RCW 28A.

Petitioners focus heavily on the list of potential transfer students created by WIAA's investigators, arguing that the investigators intentionally created it based on race. This argument is misplaced.

First, and most importantly, the list is not evidence of disparate treatment, without which Petitioners' claims fail. Ifanse and Hill conceded below that their claim is not based on being asked for an interview, but rather on the investigators' alleged treatment during their interviews. *Hill*, 2021 WL 1854332, *7; RP 33:3-6. Further, WIAA provided undisputed evidence about why the investigators asked to interview Ifanse and Hill—not because of race, but because of information they had gathered

from sources suggesting that Ifanse and Hill would have first-hand knowledge relevant to the allegations being investigated. CP 2573-75, 2685-86; *see also* CP 2691-2695, 2592-2594, 2596, 2597-2614, 2691-2716, 2615-17.

Nor is the list evidence of a discriminatory motive. As the Court of Appeals recognized, Petitioners' arguments are based entirely on unsupported assertions and inadmissible evidence. Hill, 2021 WL 1854332 at *7 ("Hill and Ifanse offer no evidence that the investigators compiled the initial list of transfer students or requested interviews based on race."). The only *admissible* evidence in the record about the list is WIAA's evidence about how and why the investigators created the list not based on race, but based on educated guesses about who was a transfer student, in light of the fact that BSD would not provide that information. CP 2573, 2684-2685, 2589-91. Based on this undisputed evidence, the list is not evidence that the investigators harbored any racial bias or intent to discriminate.

Petitioners also argue that the Court of Appeals overlooked evidence of discrimination. Pet. at 12-16. Contrary to their assertion, however, the appellate court did not "ignor[e] the content of the interviews," but carefully considered the record and concluded that "the investigators asked all of the players similar questions about the same topics regardless of race," that there was no evidence that "race was a substantial factor motivating the investigators to ask" questions, and that "Hill and Ifanse produced no evidence in support of their allegation that the investigators were disproportionately rude and aggressive to them because of their race." *Hill*, 2021 WL 1854332 at *7-8.

Petitioners argue that "discrimination . . . can also include the timing, manner, tone, body language, eye contact, and subtleties that may not come through in just written questions." Pet. at 12-13. But there is no evidence in the record of such differences in treatment by the investigators. Petitioners' only admissible comparator evidence was the deposition testimony of former plaintiff Kross, who is Caucasian, and who

also alleged that the investigators were too aggressive with him. CP 2278-79. Petitioners submitted no evidence from the other three white students the investigators interviewed. On the other undisputed evidence hand, WIAA's showed that investigators asked Kross and those students, like Ifanse and Hill, questions related to their living arrangements, the payment of certain expenses, and other "sensitive" or socioeconomically related questions. See supra at 8-10. Relatedly, the investigators frequently asked witnesses questions about Caucasian students' living arrangements, payment of certain expenses, and potential involvement in WIAA rules violations. See supra at 9-10. To the extent there were minor differences in the questions the investigators asked each student, WIAA provided evidence of legitimate, non-discriminatory explaining the reasons differences, just as the Court of Appeals recognized (e.g., the investigators had learned that Hill's mother was absent from the state of Washington, which prompted legitimate questions about her contacts with her son). Hill, 2021 WL 1854332 at *7.

Moreover, *de minimis* differences in wording or demeanor would not constitute actionable discrimination. The test for discrimination in a public accommodation case is objective:

[I]t is not enough that some hasty, chance or inadvertent word or action may offend or even make one feel unwelcome. ... Rather, the test is objective and requires a finding of a particularized kind of treatment, consciously motivated or based upon the person's race or color.

Evergreen Sch. Dist. No. 114 v. Washington State Human Rights Comm'n, on Behalf of Johnson, 39 Wn. App. 763, 772-73, 695 P.2d 999 (1985), opinion modified on denial of reconsideration (Mar. 11, 1985) (holding that teacher's isolated racially insensitive comment did not constitute discrimination); see also Floeting, 192 Wn.2d at 858 ("stress[ing]" that plaintiffs asserting discrimination in public accommodation must show more than "mere rhetoric that is subjectively offensive"). In other words, even if there were evidence of subtle differences in the way the investigators engaged with students during their

interviews, which there is not, such differences would not rise to the level of actionable discrimination.

In addition, Petitioners' suggestion that even if words "have a legitimate purpose" they can be racially discriminatory misstates the law. Pet. at 11, 12. To prove discrimination under the WLAD, a plaintiff must show both disparate treatment and that the disparate treatment was motivated by the plaintiff's protected status; that is, that the protected status was a "substantial factor" that caused the discrimination. Floeting, 192 Wn. 2d at 853–54. To avoid summary judgment, Ifanse and Hill were required to produce evidence from which a reasonable jury could find that their "protected trait was a substantial factor motivating" WIAA's conduct. Hill, 2021 WL 1854332 at *6. They failed to meet this burden, and their claims were properly dismissed.

Because the Court of Appeals' decision was sound, and, further, because no grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b) exist,

this Court should decline to accept Petitioners' request for review.

C. WIAA is Entitled to Immunity Under RCW 4.24.510.

If review is accepted, WIAA requests that the Court consider whether WIAA is entitled to RCW 4.24.510 immunity. Under RCW 4.24.510 ("Section 510"), a "person who communicates a complaint or information to any branch or agency of ... local government ... is immune from civil liability for claims based upon the communication to the agency or organization regarding any matter reasonably of concern to that [local governmental entity]."

WIAA is a "person" entitled to protection under Section 510, as recognized by the Court of Appeals. *See Hill*, 2021 WL 1854332 at 3 n.10 (citing *Leishman v. Ogden Murphy Wallace*, *PLLC*, 196 Wn.2d 898, 479 P.3d 688 (2021) (holding that a nongovernmental organization or corporation is a "person" under Section 510 because it has free speech rights). Further, the investigative report WIAA provided to BSD was a

communication regarding a matter reasonably of concern to BSD, a local government entity.

The only remaining question is whether Ifanse's and Hill's claims are "based upon" that communication. The Court of Appeals held that they are not, but that was error. Under Dang v. Ehredt, 95 Wn. App. 670, 977 P.2d 29 (1999), and Leishman, allegations that "stem from" the covered communication, such as a "cause of action based on the method of arriving at the content of the communication," are "based upon" the communication. See Dang, 95 Wn. App. at 683-84; see also Leishman, 196 Wn.2d at 910-11. Thus, in *Dang*, the defendant bank was immune from plaintiff's claims stemming from the bank's retention of her driver's license and attempt to keep her in the bank while it called the police to report suspected counterfeiting (the covered communication), not just from claims stemming from the call to the police itself (such as defamation). Dang, 95 Wn. App. at 681-82, 685. And in *Leishman*, the defendant law firm was immune from plaintiff's claims stemming not only from its investigative report to the plaintiff's employer following a workplace investigation (the covered communication), but also from claims stemming from the law firm's "conduct during the investigation." *Leishman*, 196 Wn.2d at 910-11. The *Leishman* Court held that the plaintiff's claims regarding the defendant's "conduct during the investigation [were] the starting point or foundation of the communication to the government agency," and the complaint was "based upon" that communication. *Id.* at 911.

Here, as in *Leishman*, Petitioners' claims are based on the conduct of an investigation leading to a covered communication and are therefore "based upon" the communication; like the defendant in *Leishman*, WIAA is immune from Petitioners' claims under Section 510.

VI. CONCLUSION

WIAA requests that the Court decline Petitioners' request for review. However, if the Court accepts review, WIAA

requests that the Court also consider whether WIAA is entitled to immunity under RCW 4.24.510.

I certify that this response contains 4,313 words in accordance with RAP 18.17(c)(10).